THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**May 17 2024**

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2023-001470  
Case No. 2017-CP-26-6643

---

Logan Wood and Sarah Wood,.....

Respondents,

v.

Horry County School District,.....

Petitioner.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN  
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 881-8920

*Counsel for Petitioner*

**

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to correctly interpret and apply the Tort Claims Act definition of "occurrence" and in failing to reduce the verdict for the Respondent Logan Wood to \$300,000 based on the monetary caps set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(1)?
  
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the denial of the Petitioner's motion to pay the amount of the judgments into court pursuant to Rule 67, SCRPC?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 20, 2016, the Respondent Logan Wood, then age 14, received a concussion while playing in a football game on the B team at North Myrtle Beach Middle School. The game was an away game for the North Myrtle Beach B team against Ocean Bay Middle School and was hosted by Carolina Forest High School at its stadium. As the host school, Carolina Forest provided the athletic trainer for the game consistent with the Petitioner Horry County School District's staffing model for coverage of athletic events by athletic trainers. Specifically, there was one Carolina Forest athletic trainer present in the stadium, and she had responsibility for monitoring the game and assessing and treating injuries to players on both teams.

The Respondent Logan Wood, and his mother, the Respondent Sarah Wood, alleged that during the football game Logan exhibited signs and symptoms of a concussion and should have been removed from the game by his coaches and/or the athletic trainer and assessed for a concussion. They alleged that Logan was not removed from the game but rather continued to play, ultimately receiving additional blows to the head, and he now suffers from second impact syndrome.

This case was tried from April 12-15, 2021, before Circuit Court Judge William H. Seals, Jr. and a jury. At the close of the Respondents' case-in-chief,

the School District moved for a directed verdict on the basis that there was no gross negligence as a matter of law and that there was only one “occurrence” as a matter of law. (R. 266-272). The same directed verdict motion was renewed at the close of all evidence. (R. 292).

The trial court submitted the case to the jury which returned a verdict finding two acts of gross negligence by the School District in response to special interrogatories. Specifically, the jury found that the School District "acted with gross negligence when it allowed Logan Wood to play without an athletic trainer present for his team" and also "acted with gross negligence when it failed to assess Logan Wood for signs and symptoms associated with a concussion." (R. 22). Additionally, the jury found in favor of the School District on whether the School District "acted with gross negligence in failing to train the coaching staff regarding post-concussive syndrome and second impact syndrome." (R. 22).

The jury awarded actual damages in the amount of \$825,000 for Logan Wood and actual damages in the amount of \$25,000 for Sarah Wood. (R. 23). The School District's post-trial motions were denied, except that the trial court did reduce the verdict for Logan to \$600,000 for two "occurrences" each capped at \$300,000. Accordingly, judgment was entered against the School District in the amount of \$600,00 for Logan and \$25,000 for Sarah. (R. 10).

The School District thereupon filed an appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. No cross-appeal was filed. On June 21, 2023, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished memorandum opinion affirming the trial court's denial of its motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) and to deposit the judgment amount with the clerk of court.

The School District thereafter petitioned for rehearing, and that petition was denied by order entered on August 17, 2023. (App. 4-5). The School District thereupon filed a petition for writ of certiorari which has been granted by this Court.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court “may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law.” *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are “free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder.” *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

**I. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to correctly interpret and apply the Tort Claims Act definition of "occurrence" and in failing to reduce the verdict for the Respondent Logan Wood to \$300,000 based on the monetary caps set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(1).**

The Petitioner Horry County School District contends that the trial court erred in failing to correctly interpret and apply the Tort Claims Act definition of "occurrence" and in failing to reduce the verdict for the Respondent Logan Wood to \$300,000 based on the monetary caps set forth in Section 15-78-120(a)(1) of the Code of Laws. The School District identified three specific errors of law committed by the trial court. In its memorandum opinion, the Court of Appeals failed to consider or otherwise misapprehended each of those errors of law.

First, the School District argued that the trial court erred in failing to recognize that the application of the monetary caps presents an issue of law for the court to decide. Citing cases that have arisen strictly in the context of administrative law proceedings, including specifically workers' compensation cases and contested cases before the Administrative Law Court,<sup>1</sup> the Court of Appeals ruled that the application of the monetary cap pursuant to Section 15-78-120(a)(1) presents a question for the jury. That ruling is completely at odds with

---

<sup>1</sup> In an administrative proceeding, the judge or commissioner (i.e., the arbiter of the law) also serves as the fact finder. That is not the case in a civil jury trial.

existing precedent, including the Court of Appeals' own decisions in *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District*, 362 S.C. 276, 607 S.E.2d 711 (Ct. App. 2005), and *Campbell v. City of North Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 848 S.E.2d 788 (Ct. App. 2020). In *Parker, supra*, the Court of Appeals, using mandatory language, states: "We conclude that the monetary statutory cap is self-executing and the court is required to apply the monetary statutory cap to any jury verdict exceeding \$300,000." 607 S.E.2d at 716. In *Campbell, supra*, the Court of Appeals more recently reaffirmed that "the plain meaning of the statute indicates this cap must be executed" and that "under the plain meaning of section 15-78-120(a), courts *must* apply the statutory cap to actions brought pursuant to the Act." 848 S.E.2d at 793-794. (Emphasis added). To reinforce its point, the Court of Appeals also emphasized that "the application of the cap is *mandatory* and self-executing." 848 S.E.2d at 793. (Emphasis added). Thus, the application of the monetary caps is a mandatory and self-executing duty imposed on the trial court – and not the jury – where, as here, the jury's verdict exceeds \$300,000. In effect, the application of the statutory caps is clearly not a decision for the jury.

Instead, as the School District argued below and on appeal, the application of the monetary cap pursuant to Section 15-78-120(a)(1) presents a mixed question of law and fact, which includes an analysis of the term "single occurrence" which is incorporated in Section 15-78-120(a)(1). The term "occurrence" is statutorily

defined to mean “an unfolding sequence of events which proximately flow from a single act of negligence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-30(g).<sup>2</sup> Thus, to carry out the mandatory and self-executing duty recognized in *Parker* and *Campbell*, the trial court is required to take the fact-finding of the jury and to then determine whether the award for any "loss arising from" any “single occurrence” exceeds \$300,000. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(1) ("no person shall recover in any action or claim brought hereunder a sum exceeding three hundred thousand dollars because of loss arising from a single occurrence").<sup>3</sup>

As the trial court instructed and the special verdict form allowed, the jury in the case at bar made a factual determination as to the number of acts of gross

---

<sup>2</sup> As discussed in more detail below, the statutory definition of “occurrence” is poorly articulated by the General Assembly and hence gives rise to a challenging application. The trial judge in the case at bar would not disagree with that characterization; during the trial, the judge actually described the term "occurrence" as "slippery at best." (R. 293). Yet, trial courts, including the one in this case, are repeatedly erring in charging a jury with the definition of “occurrence” and then expecting a jury to navigate its meaning and application on the mistaken premise that a jury question is presented.

<sup>3</sup> Notably, in *Boiter v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 393 S.C. 123, 712 S.E.2d 401 (2011), this Court made the determination that the facts as found by the jury gave rise to multiple occurrences. The jury in *Boiter* did not make that determination; the jury only determined that both defendants committed acts of negligence. The School District’s position that the number of occurrences presents an issue of law for the court is further supported by reference to the related context of insurance coverage where this Court has treated as an issue of law whether a particular factual scenario gives rise to a single occurrence or multiple occurrences. *See e.g., Owners Ins. Co. v. Salmonsens*, 366 S.C. 336, 622 S.E.2d 525, 526 (2005) (this Court determined as matter of law that “placing a defective product into the stream of commerce is one occurrence” rather than multiple occurrences ); *Beaufort County School District v. United National Ins. Co.*, 392 S.C. 506, 709 S.E.2d 85 (2011) (this Court determined as matter of law that the sexual molestation of multiple victims constituted multiple occurrences).

negligence that were committed by the School District. The jury concluded that there were two acts of gross negligence, one related to the number of athletic trainers available for the football game and the other for the failure to assess Logan Wood for the signs and symptoms associated with a concussion. (R. 22). With that special verdict form, that is what the jury was asked to determine. (R. 22-23).

Taking that factual determination, the trial court was required to determine whether those two acts of gross negligence give rise to or proximately caused the same “sequence of events” that is “unfolding” (or “evolving” or progressing” to apply useful synonyms). That is the mandatory and self-executing duty imposed by Section 15-78-120(a)(1) as recognized in *Parker* and *Campbell*. The trial court did not, however, fulfill that duty or responsibility. Instead, the trial court treated the number of occurrences and the application of the monetary caps as purely a factual question for the jury's determination and concluded erroneously that the jury actually found multiple "occurrences" giving rise to presumably multiple “losses,” which it did not. The special verdict form stated no such thing.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The “loss arising from a single occurrence” language in Section 15-78-120(a)(1) is often overlooked and misapplied, as it was in this case. A plaintiff has the burden of pleading and proving not only the number of "occurrences," but also proving the damages awarded for a *loss arising from each separate occurrence*. In other words, if multiple occurrences are claimed, a plaintiff has the burden of proving each purported "occurrence" proximately resulted in a “loss” and the amount of damages to compensate each such “loss.” Even where there may be multiple “occurrences,” it is certainly possible that all of the damages were caused by just one of the "occurrences." It is also just as possible that one or more of the “occurrences” caused damages less than \$300,000. In effect, in order for a trial court to fulfill its mandatory and self-executing duty to apply the monetary caps, it is necessary for the court to be provided

The Court of Appeals also erred in finding that the School District was literally to blame that the special verdict form provided insufficient information. That is neither correct nor fair. For the reasons discussed above, the School District took the position at the directed verdict stage and throughout the trial that the occurrence issue requires a legal determination by the trial court. The trial court did not agree with

---

information in the verdict form as to each “loss” arising from each “occurrence,” so that the monetary caps may be properly applied. This analysis may be effectively and most efficiently accomplished by a bifurcated process, much like what is often used for determining punitive damages. In such a process, the jury would first make the factual findings as to the tortious acts or omissions committed by a defendant and the total actual damages sustained by the plaintiff. Then, if the actual damages are less than \$300,000 or if the trial judge determines that the factual findings by the jury do not give rise to more than a “single occurrence,” the jury may be discharged. However, if the trial judge concludes that there is more than a “single occurrence,” the case would be resubmitted to the jury to return a second special verdict form that allocates the total actual damages as determined earlier among each of the “occurrences” as determined by the trial judge. Then, if the jury allocates more than \$300,000 to any of the occurrences, the trial judge would reduce the verdict for that occurrence to \$300,000 for the plaintiff.

Notably, in *Boiter v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 393 S.C. 123, 712 S.E.2d 401 (2011), this Court had the necessary information to adjudge the issue of “multiple occurrences.” As reflected in this Court’s opinion, *Boiter* did not involve one lawsuit with two plaintiffs and two defendants. Instead, as this Court explained, “[t]he Boiters filed four separate lawsuits against South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT) and South Carolina Department of Public Safety (SCDPS) (collectively, Respondents) alleging negligence in their failure to prevent the accident.” 712 S.E.2d at 402. Thus, there were four separate lawsuits, and as a result, when the cases were tried, the jury returned *four separate verdicts*. Those four verdicts totaled \$1.875 million for each plaintiff. 712 S.E.2d at 402-403. In adjudging the post-trial motions, the trial judge in *Boiter* did have available to him the jury’s determination of the “loss” attributable to each defendant (SCDOT or SCDPS) in favor of each plaintiff (Larry Boiter and Jeannie Boiter). That allowed this Court to know on appeal that the jury found in excess of \$300,000 in damages for each of the two “occurrences” that this Court found, one by SCDOT and another by SCDPS.

Note that some courts have misread *Boiter* as not requiring the factfinder to allocate the “loss” arising from each “occurrence.” See e.g., *Gifford v. Horry County Police Department*, 2023 WL 2702953, \*6 (D.S.C. 2023) (where the federal district court erroneously concluded that the jury in *Boiter* did not “parse out” the verdicts between each claim and each defendant). Obviously, that is not correct given the four separate verdicts in *Boiter*. *Gifford* is currently on appeal to the Fourth Circuit.

that position, and as a result, the Court of Appeals is incorrect in finding that the School District “may not complain on appeal when it receives what it asked for at trial.” App. 2, *citing McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co.*, 325 S.C. 327, 479 S.E.2d 67, 79 (Ct. App. 1996). The School District did *not* receive what it asked for at trial as the trial court ultimately ruled that the number of “occurrences” presents a jury question. With that ruling, it was incumbent on the Respondents – not the School District – to ensure that the verdict form included the information by which the trial court could then carry out the mandatory and self-executing duty imposed by Section 15-78-120(a)(1).

Moreover, this is also consistent with the School District’s position on appeal. In its opening brief in the Court of Appeals, the School District points out that “the [trial] court was nonetheless correct in not having the jury determine the number of ‘occurrences’ on the verdict form. As indicated, that presented a legal issue for the trial court's determination.” *See*, Appellant’s Court of Appeals Opening Brief, p. 8.

In sum, the Court of Appeals misapprehended the record in its placement of blame on the School District for the inadequacies of the special verdict form. The jury should be asked to make the factual findings necessary for the trial court to carry out its mandatory and self-executing duty as recognized in *Parker* and *Campbell* to apply the monetary caps. The failure of the Respondents to obtain a verdict form that provides the necessary information is grounds for a reversal. As this Court made

clear in *Chastain v. AnMed Health Foundation*, 388 S.C. 170, 694 S.E.2d 541 (2010), it is a plaintiff's responsibility to provide a verdict form bearing the information necessary to prove his case and support the judgment, if he seeks a judgment in excess of the \$300,000 cap. A defendant has no responsibility to make sure the verdict form proves the plaintiff's case – that burden lies with the plaintiff. Thus, the Court of Appeals erred in shifting the burden to the School District to make certain there is an adequate verdict form to prove the Respondents' entitlement to a judgment in excess of the \$300,000 cap. Notably, a similar position taken by the plaintiff in *Chastain* to blame the defendant hospital for the inadequacy of the verdict form was rejected by the trial judge and by this Court on appeal.

Hence, as the School District has argued, the trial court erred in its conclusion that the jury in this case found two separate and independent "occurrences" as that term is defined under the Tort Claims Act. In actuality, the special verdict form demonstrates only that the jury found two acts of gross negligence by the School District employees. (R. 22). The jury was not called upon to determine whether there even were multiple "occurrences" and, if so, to identify those "occurrences" or the "loss" arising from each occurrence. Likewise, there was no determination by the jury on that special verdict form that the two acts of gross negligence as found were "separate and distinct" or "separate and

independent." To repeat, the special verdict form shows that the jury was only asked to and did provide a factual finding as to the acts of gross negligence – nothing more and nothing less. (R. 22-23).

A trial judge may not speculate as to the jury's verdict, particularly on questions that the jury was never asked to answer *and did not answer* on the special verdict form. *Chastain* makes that clear as well. However, that is precisely what the trial court did in this case. The trial judge erroneously speculated that "[i]n completing the verdict form, the jury found for the Plaintiff that the first and second independent occurrences were supported by the evidence." (R. 8).<sup>5</sup> The trial judge proceeds to conclude that "the jury found that there were two separate and distinct occurrences of gross negligence which caused Logan Wood's brain injury." (R. 9). That, however, is nothing but speculation. To reiterate, the special verdict form says nothing about "occurrences" and says nothing about "losses" arising from such "occurrences." It also says nothing about the acts of gross negligence being "separate and distinct" or "separate and independent." The jury did not make those findings. (R. 22-23).

Finally, the School District argued that the trial court erred in failing to correctly interpret and apply the definition of "occurrence" to the findings of fact

---

<sup>5</sup> Notably, the special verdict form was given to the jury with no explanation of the special interrogatories asked or their legal significance. (R. 351-352).

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