RECEIVED

Jun 12 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001470

Logan Wood and Sarah Wood,.....Respondents,

v.

Horry County School District,Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529
kbarnes@barneslawfirm.com

EVANS MOORE, LLC
James B. Moore, III, SC Bar No. 74268
james@evansmoorelaw.com
Scott C. Evans, SC Bar No. 77684
scott@evansmoorelaw.com
121 Screven Street
Georgetown, SC 29440
843-995-5000

THE LOVELY LAW FIRM

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

ARGUMENT

The law stated by this Court is that the jury may decide the number of occurrences as instructed in either the jury charges or verdict form, or both. HCSD’s argument is unpreserved because it did not argue in its directed verdict motion that the lower court must be the sole arbiter on the number of occurrences or object to the verdict form and jury charges. Regardless, the argument is legally incorrect.

The jury and the lower court correctly applied the law to the facts of this case to find two separate occurrences. Their analysis follows this Court’s precedent.

Finally, the lower court has discretion to deny a motion under Rule 67, SCRPC, to deposit the judgment into the court and appropriately exercised it in this case.

I. The determination of the number of occurrences is a question for the jury.

The SCTCA defines “occurrence” as “an unfolding sequence of events which proximately flow from a single act of negligence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-30(g). The question HCSD presents is whether the court or the jury is to decide the number of occurrences. Its argument is unpreserved and incorrect on the merits.

HCSD argues that the number of occurrences is a legal issue for the court to decide. (Br. of Pet. pp. 11, 16-17). It states that the trial court—not the jury—“was required to apply th[e] definition of ‘occurrence,’ and analyze whether” the grossly negligent acts found by the jury “gave

rise to or proximately caused a different ‘unfolding sequence of events.’” (Br. of Pet. p. 17). In other words, HCSD argues that the jury decides whether there are multiple acts of gross negligence and, if so, the court then decides if those acts of negligence each satisfy the definition of an “occurrence.” The law does not support this assertion. There is no case that says, after a jury’s findings of multiple acts of gross negligence, there is another analytical step that only the court may perform to determine the number of occurrences.

As an initial matter, HCSD overlooks and ignores that the lower court found separate occurrences on **its own analysis**. It found that “[t]he evidence supported a finding that Logan Wood’s injury resulted from the independent, gross negligence of different sets of employees; taking place on different dates; and taking place at different locations.” (R. pp. 7-9). Therefore, even if HCSD’s legal argument is correct—which the Woods dispute below—the lower court did actually conduct its own analysis on the number of occurrences. Any alleged error is harmless because “whatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter.” *Miller v. Dillon*, 432 S.C. 197, 211, 851 S.E.2d 462, 470 (Ct. App. 2020). The Court may affirm on this basis alone. Rule 220(c), SCACR.

If the Court addresses the merits of HCSD’s legal argument, it should affirm the Court of Appeals’ decision on this issue. HCSD cites to *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276, 607 S.E.2d 711 (Ct. App. 2005), and *Campbell v. City of North Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 848 S.E.2d 788 (Ct. App. 2020), as authority that requires the trial court to determine the number of occurrences as a matter of law. (Br. of Pet. pp. 7-9). HCSD refers to it as a “self-executing duty” according to *Parker*. Neither *Parker* nor *Campbell* supports HCSD’s argument. On the contrary, they support the Woods’s argument and the lower court and Court of Appeals’ decisions.

In *Parker*, the issue was “whether the statutory cap is an affirmative defense which is waived if not pled.” 362 S.C. at 282, 607 S.E.2d at 714. The plaintiff’s complaint stated that she brought the action under the SCTCA, but the defendant did not plead the statutory cap as an affirmative defense. *Id.* at 279, 607 S.E.2d at 713. During trial, the defendant moved to amend the answer to assert the cap, and the judge denied the motion and entered judgment for \$450,000.00 without applying the statutory cap. *Id.* at 279-80, 607 S.E.2d at 713. On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed and held “that the monetary statutory cap is self-executing and the court is required to apply the monetary statutory cap” regardless of whether the defendant pleads it as an affirmative defense. *Id.* at 282-85, 289, 607 S.E.2d at 714-16, 718.

Parker held the trial court must apply the cap regardless of whether it is pled. That is not at issue in this case. In this case, the lower court did apply the cap to reduce the damages award to Logan from \$825,000.00 to \$600,000.00. *Parker* is irrelevant to this appeal.

Parker’s “self-executing” language simply means that the Court must apply the cap whether or not a defendant asks for the reduction. Stated differently, “self-executing” means that the cap is not an affirmative defense that must be pled but, instead, is to be automatically applied by the Court. *See, e.g., United States v. Linville*, 60 F.4th 890, 893 (4th Cir. 2023) (stating Fifth Amendment rights are “self-executing—meaning they apply whether or not expressly invoked”). It does not mean that the Court determines the number of occurrences as a matter of law.

Campbell also ruled that the cap is applied regardless of whether it is pled as an affirmative defense. In *Campbell*, the defendant went into default and was not able to file an answer. 431 S.C. at 458-59, 848 S.E.2d at 790-91. The plaintiff argued the cap “did not apply because it was an affirmative defense which was waived or lost upon an entry of default.” *Id.* at 459, 848 S.E.2d at 791. The Court of Appeals, relying on *Parker*, disagreed. “We reiterate our holding in *Parker*

that the plain meaning of the statute indicates this cap must be executed regardless of whether a defendant has filed a responsive pleading raising this cap as a defense.” *Id.* at 463-64, 848 S.E.2d at 793. *Campbell*, like *Parker*, has nothing to do with whether a trial judge or a jury decides the number of occurrences. Occurrences were not at issue in *Campbell*.

In *Chastain v. AnMed Health Foundation*, 388 S.C. 170, 694 S.E.2d 541 (2010), the Supreme Court addressed whether the lower court properly reduced a verdict to the \$300,000.00 cap for one occurrence where the jury entered a general verdict. The Court affirmed because “the jury was never instructed on the definition of occurrence nor was it asked to determine whether there was more than one occurrence, either in the instructions or in its verdict.” *Id.* at 174, 694 S.E.2d at 544. This statement plainly shows that it is legally and procedurally proper for the jury to determine occurrences and that the issue is not a matter of law solely for the court. It also provides a procedure for the lower court to follow in a case with evidence of multiple occurrences—instruct the jury on the definition of occurrence and ask it to determine the number of occurrences “either in the instructions or in its verdict.” *Id.*

Chastain shows HCSD is incorrect to assert that trial courts “are repeatedly erring in charging a jury with the definition of ‘occurrence’” and asking them to decide that issue. (Br. of Pet. p. 8 n.2). On the contrary, that is the procedure this Court noted in *Chastain*.

The lower court in this case followed *Chastain* by charging the jury on the definition of occurrence and asking it to find the number of occurrences.

It was plain to the lower court, all parties, their counsel, and the jury that the verdict form asked about separate instances of gross negligence for the purpose of determining the number of occurrences. In other words, the jury understood that, in order to check “yes” on the verdict form, it must find that the act was grossly negligent and an occurrence.

The lower court specifically discussed the alleged separate “occurrences” so that counsel for both parties could agree on which ones to include on the verdict form and how to charge the jury. (R. pp. 293-96). In closing argument, the Woods asked the jury to “return a verdict for \$300,000 for each of the three occurrences of gross negligence for a total of \$900,000.” (R. p. 341). In the jury charge, the lower court told the jury:

The plaintiff has alleged multiple occurrences of gross negligence. An occurrence is defined as an unfolding sequence of events which proximately flow from a single act of negligence. The plaintiff has the burden of proving that each act of gross negligence was separate and independent in order for **you** to find that more than one occurrence has occurred.

(R. p. 347) (emphasis added). HCSD did not object to the charge to the jurors that “you” are finding the number of occurrences. In its order on post-trial motions, the lower court explained:

[I]t was determined that the jury was to make a separate finding as to each occurrence as detailed in separate interrogatories and based on the jury charges. After much argument between the parties on the record regarding the number of occurrences which were supported by the evidence and the wording of the interrogatories, and after concessions by each party, this Court prepared a verdict form which was disseminated to the parties for review and given to the jury.

In completing the verdict form, the jury found for the Plaintiff that the first and second independent occurrences were supported by the evidence, and rejected the Plaintiffs’ allegations as to the third occurrence. As such, there was a finding of fact by the jury of two occurrences in accordance with the South Carolina Supreme Court’s guidance in Chastain.

(R. p. 8). The lower court followed the statutory and case law on the determination of the number of occurrences. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed its decision, and this Court should deny the petition on this issue.

HCSD cites to *Boiter v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 393 S.C. 123, 712 S.E.2d 401 (2011), as support for its argument that only the trial court can decide the number of occurrences. (Br. of Pet. p. 8 n.3). But nowhere in *Boiter* did this Court say that. There is a difference in an appellate court reviewing a decision of the number of occurrences from a legal or factual standpoint versus a

holding that only the court—not the jury—may ever decide the issue. *Boiter* is discussed in detail below.³

HCSO complains about the Court of Appeals’ statement that, because HCSO asked the lower court to remove a question that would ask the jury to determine the number of occurrences, it “may not now complain that the special verdict form lacked such an interrogatory.” (App. p. 2; Br. of Pet. pp. 10-12). In its briefing to the Court of Appeals, HCSO argued the lower court “erred in its conclusion that the jury in this case found two separate and independent ‘occurrences’” when the verdict form asked about “gross negligence.” (Br. of App. in Ct. of App. p. 6). This alleged error is what the Court of Appeals addressed when it held that HCSO cannot complain that the verdict form did not ask about the number of occurrences when it objected to that question. The Court of Appeals is correct in that holding, and HCSO’s argument to the contrary misconstrues the Court’s ruling.

During a discussion about the jury charges and verdict form, the Woods asked for the form to have a “line for occurrences. Having been charged with a number of occurrences, how many occurrences are there.” (R. p. 274). HCSO objected, stating:

That does not suit me. I think the definition of occurrences is very confusing. The jury is going to hear it and it’s going to be very, very confusing for them to get back there. I don’t understand exactly, I’m no genius, don’t get me wrong, but I don’t understand. It really has the potential if you just say determine the number of occurrences, it has the potential to distract them from the true issues in this case.

³ HCSO cites to two insurance cases as supporting its position that the number of occurrences—under the SCTCA—is solely an issue of law for the court. (Br. of Pet. p. 8 n.3). Neither of these cases are applicable. *Owners Ins. Co. v. Salmonsens*, 366 S.C. 336, 622 S.E.2d 525 (2005), involved the interpretation of a commercial general liability policy’s definition of “occurrence”—a definition which is wholly different from the SCTCA. *Beaufort Cnty. School District v. United National Ins. Co.*, 392 S.C. 506, 709 S.E.2d 85 (Ct. App. 2011), involved the determination of whether sexual molestation of different children was a separate occurrence or if they were only one occurrence because each was molested by the same perpetrator. These cases have nothing to do with the issues before the Court in this case.

(R. p. 274). Saying that the definition of occurrence is “very confusing” and “has the potential to distract from the true issues” is not the same thing as arguing that only the court may determine the number of occurrences as a matter of law, which is what HCSD now argues on appeal. (Br. of Pet. pp. 6-17). HCSD moved for a directed verdict asking the Court to rule as matter of law that there is only one occurrence. (R. pp. 266-69). It did not say that the Court—and not a jury—must decide the issue. *Id.* HCSD did not make at trial the same argument that it now makes on appeal. Indeed, that belated argument is now the crux of its appeal. A party should not be allowed to make arguments and ask for rulings on appeal that it did not properly raise at trial. “[A]n appellant cannot change or add to the arguments he made at trial on appeal.” *Carson v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 400 S.C. 221, 243, 734 S.E.2d 148, 160 (2012). Making an argument for the first time in a post-trial motion is too late. (R. pp. 47-48). The argument is unpreserved, and the Court should affirm for this reason alone.

Finally, for the first time in this case, HCSD suggests to the Court a new “bifurcated process” for determining the number of occurrences.⁴ (Br. of Pet. pp. 9-10, n.4). This argument is unpreserved. HCSD never asked for bifurcation below, got no ruling on it from the trial court, and cannot now ask for it on appeal. *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 660, 661 S.E.2d 791, 800 (2008) (“Because these issues were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the circuit court, we find they were not properly preserved for our review.”).

⁴ HCSD also states that a plaintiff in a SCTCA case must prove a specific amount of damages caused by each occurrence. (Br. of Pet. p. 9 n.4). There is no such requirement in the SCTCA or case law. On the contrary, in *Campbell*, the Court of Appeals held that the SCTCA’s “damages cap does not require any special findings that would affect the proof at trial.” 431 S.C. at 464, 848 S.E.2d at 794. Furthermore, this Court already rejected the argument that the number of occurrences equates to the number of injuries. *Boiter*, 393 S.C. at 134, 712 S.E.2d at 406.

Even so, its proposed process shows how far afield its argument is from the statutory language of the SCTCA. HCSD advocates for the following: First, the jury will decide if negligence occurred and award an amount of damages; second, the trial court will decide if there was more than one occurrence; third, if there is more than one occurrence, the court will resubmit the case to the jury for it to allocate the prior damages award among the occurrences found by the court. (Br. of Pet. p. 10 n.4).

This process is not found in the SCTCA. Within the SCTCA, the General Assembly specified “the trier of fact must return a special verdict specifying the proportion of monetary liability of each defendant against whom liability is determined”—clearly indicating that it is capable of requiring a special verdict form if necessary under the SCTCA. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-100(c). It specified no such procedure or specific decisionmaker for the occurrence issue. While HCSD notes that the SCTCA specifies a liberal construction in the State’s favor, that principle of construction cannot be used to write in factfinders and procedures where none are specified. In the absence of such specification, there is no basis for this Court to write words into the statute.

Further, HCSD gives no reason why a jury is not capable of determining the number of occurrences. Juries are regularly instructed to interpret statutes and decide complex legal issues. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 36-2-313 to -315 (breach of express and implied warranties); S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-5-10 to -20 (Unfair Trade Practices Act). Nothing distinguishes the “occurrence” definition from any other statute for special treatment.

HCSD’s argument that the trial court must decide the number of occurrences as a matter of law is unpreserved and without any legal support in statutory or case law. This Court should affirm the lower court’s decision to charge the jury to apply the occurrence definition.

II. The law and evidence support the jury and lower court’s findings of two occurrences.

The law on “occurrence” and the evidence in this case support the jury and the lower court’s findings of two separate occurrences.

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